UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
For the Fifth Crcuit

No. 02-50041

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,

VERSUS

SON HU SODOSKY, al so known as Son Hui Yi, also known as Son Hui
Goebbel , al so known as Son Hui Peak, al so known as Son Hui El npre

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Western District of Texas
(99- CR-1197)

Decenber 5, 2002

Bef ore Hl GG NBOTHAM DUHE, and DeMOSS, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *

Appel I ant, Son Hui Sodosky (Sodosky), was i ndi cted and char ged
W th procurenment of citizenship or naturalization unlawfully in
violation of 18 US C 8§ 1425(b) for msstating on her

naturalization application that she had never before been

"Pursuant to 5TH QR R 47.5, the Court has determ ned that this
opi ni on shoul d not be published and is not precedent except under
the limted circunmstances set forth in 5THGQR R 47.5. 4.



“arrested, cited, charged, indicted, convicted, fined or inprisoned
for breaking or violating any |aw or ordi nance, excluding traffic
regul ations.” She was convicted followwng a jury trial and
sentenced to four years' probation and a $100 speci al assessnent.
As a result of her conviction, the district court revoked her
citizenship. Appellant now appeal s her conviction. We REVERSE
FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Appel  ant was born in Korea in 1960. She married an Anerican
soldier naned Elwood C. Elnore in Korea and noved to El Paso
Texas, with himin 1980. Appel lant and M. Elnore divorced in
1982. After her divorce, Appellant continued to use her mlitary
dependent card to receive nedical services at the WIIiam Beaunont
Army Medical Center. |In 1984, as a result of her use of the card,
she was convicted of fraud, sentenced to probation, and ordered to
pay restitution to the Arnmy Medical Center for the benefits she
recei ved. Sodosky conplied with all of the conditions of her
probation and paid all restitution as ordered. As a result of
Sodosky's conviction, the Immgration and Naturalization Service
(I'NS) received a copy of her indictnent and an FBI neno setting out
the details of the offense. To avoid deportation, Sodosky filed a
motion for a recomrendati on against deportation with the INS in
August 1984, whi ch was successful.

In 1986, Sodosky married Detl ev Goebbel and noved to Gernmany,

where they had a son. Sodosky divorced M. Goebbel in 1989 and



returned tothe United States on a visitor's visa, which expired on
Cct ober 26, 1989. However, Sodosky was able to remain in the
United States because she married Jerry Sodosky in Novenber 1989.

In 1996, Sodosky nmade an application for naturalization on an
I NS form —-400. Question 15b asked if the applicant had ever been
arrested, cited, charged, indicted, fined, convicted, or inprisoned

for violating any |aw or ordi nance excluding traffic violations.

The box marked "no" was checked on Sodosky's application. M.
Sodosky signed the formindicating that he had prepared it for his
wi fe.

After filing the application, Sodosky was i nfornmed by a letter
fromthe INS that she would have an interview on July 25, 1996
The letter noted that she should bring the disposition of any
crimnal violations with her to the interview \Wen Sodosky went
to her interview, she did not bring a copy of the judgnent entered
in the 1984 crimnal case. She testified that the clerk's office
told her it would take up to six weeks to receive a copy of the
judgnent. She also testified that she did not request additional
time to receive the judgnent before the interview because she
believed the INS exam ner already had know edge of the prior
proposed deportation and the basis for it.

Yol anda Mranda (Mranda) was the INS adjudications officer
that interviewed Sodosky. Sodosky testified that Mranda's first
guestion concer ned Sodosky's prior deportation order. Accordingto

Sodosky, she told M randa about her fraud conviction for using the
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mlitary card and that she had fini shed her probation and pai d back
all of the noney she owed the Arny Medical Center.

M randa, however, testified that she did not renenber
i ntervi ew ng Sodosky, but that she always conducts her interviews
in the sanme manner. Mranda testified that she al ways reviews an
applicant's "A file," which is created when a person is being
processed by the INS and includes an assigned tracki ng nunber for
t hat person. An A file is kept in the course and scope of the
duties of the INS, and contains historical docunents including a
person's crimnal history and all applications submtted to the
INS. Mranda stated that there was no record of Sodosky's crim na
history in her Afile when she reviewed it at the interview

M randa further stated that she al ways asks applicants about
question 15b on the application. Mranda testified that if Sodosky
had answered "yes" to question 15b during the interview, Mranda
woul d have noted that fact and asked Sodosky for additional
i nformati on. Mranda also said that she would have had Sodosky
swear to the change on her application concerning that question.
According to Mranda, question 15b was an inportant question to
review with an applicant because one of the requirenents for
citizenship was that an applicant have good noral character. To
meet this requirenent, an applicant could not have committed a
crime during the five vyears before the submssion of the
application. Mranda expl ained that, for the good noral character
requi renent, she would wusually look only to the five years
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preceding the tine of application, but noted that she was all owed
to look prior to those five years.

Based on Sodosky's A file and interview, Mranda recommended
that Sodosky's application be approved. M randa, however,
testified that she would not have nade a reconmendation to grant
Sodosky citizenship based on her prior indictnent and conviction,
even though it occurred 12 vyears prior to her meking an
application. Regardless, Mranda pointed out that, although she
woul d not have recomrended Sodosky's application be approved, the
ultimte decision would have been nmade by an assistant deputy
district director.

Sodosky noved for judgnent of acquittal at the close of the
governnent's evidence, which was denied. Sodosky renewed her
nmotion for judgnent of acquittal at the end of all the evidence,
whi ch al so was denied. At trial neither party filed proposed jury
i nstructions. The district court presented the follow ng
instructions to the jury without objection fromeither party:

The indictnment alleges an offense under Title 18,
United States Code, section 1425, which makes it a crine
for anyone, whether for herself or another person, to
know ngly procure or obtain evidence of nationalization
or citizenship, docunentary or otherwi se, to which she is
not entitl ed.

For you to find Son Hui Sodosky gquilty of this
crime, you nust be convinced that the Governnent has
proven each of the follow ng beyond a reasonabl e doubt:
First: That the Defendant know ngly applied for,
procured, and obtai ned evidence of nationalization and
citizenship for herself;

Second: That the Defendant did so by representing or
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causing to be represented on a Form—-400 Application for
Citizenship that she had never commtted a crine for
whi ch she had been arrested, and representing that she
had never been arrested, cited, charged, indicted,
convicted, fined, or inprisoned;

Thi rd: That the i nformati on on the Form-400 was fal se
inthat the Defendant was arrested on April 16, 1984, for
fraud, a violation of Title 18, United States Code,
section 1001, and was convicted of that offense on or
about July 18, 1984, and,

Fourt h: That t he Def endant knew the i nformati on on the
Form —400 was fal se.

The jury reached a verdict of quilty.

On January 7, 2002, Sodosky was sentenced to a four-year term
of supervised probation and a $100 special assessment. The
district court also entered an Order Revoking Citizenship. Sodosky
tinely filed a notice of appeal on January 7, 2002, arguing that:
(1) there was insufficient evidence to convict her under 18 U S. C
8§ 1425(b) because there was no evidence that she was ineligible for
naturalization or believed she was ineligible for naturalization
and (2) the district court's failure to include in its jury
instructions the elenents of ineligibility for naturalization and
know edge of ineligibility was plain error.

DI SCUSSI ON

There is no need to reach the issue of whether the district
court commtted plainerror ininstructing the jury because we find
that there was insufficient evidence to convict Sodosky under 18
U S C 8§ 1425(b). 1In assessing the sufficiency of the evidence to

support a conviction when the appellant properly noved for a



judgnent of acquittal as Sodosky did, the standard of review is
"whet her, after view ng the evidence in the light nost favorable to
the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the
essential elenents of the crinme beyond a reasonable doubt."
Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U. S. 307, 319 (1979). This Court only
determ nes whether the jury nmade a rational decision, not whether
t he decision was correct. United States v. Dean, 59 F.3d 1479

1484 (5th Gr. 1995). Furthernore, this Court views all evidence
adduced at trial, and all inferences reasonably drawn fromit, in
the light nost favorable to the verdict. Id.

Section 1425(b), Title 18 of the United States Code,
crimnalizes conduct whereby a person know ngly applies for or
obtains naturalization or citizenship to which he or she is "not
entitled." Significantly, the only case in which this Court has
addressed the elenents of a section 1425(b) offense is United
States v. Moses, 94 F. 3d 182 (5th Gr. 1996), which we are bound to
foll ow as precedent. In Moses, the defendant alien filed forns
wth the INS seeking naturalization under 8 U S.C. § 1430, which
allows an alien to apply for citizenshipif he or sheis married to
acitizenand living in Arerica wth that citizen spouse for three
years. The fornms asked if Moses was nmarried, the date of his
marriage, and the present address of his citizen spouse. Moses
indicated that he was living with his Anerican wife and chil dren,

when in fact he had been separated for five years and had begun



another famly with another woman with whomhe was living. 1d. at
184. In a later filing, in response to a question about whether
his marital status had changed since the first formwas filed, he
answered in the negative. 1d.

Moses was charged under 18 U.S.C. 8 1001 for nmaking a fal se
statenent by indicating that his marital status had not changed on
the second form | d. Moses was al so charged under 18 U S.C. 8§
1425(b) because he stated that he had been living in "marita
union" for the three years prior to his application. 1d. Moses
was convicted on both counts. |Id.

This Court reversed the section 1001 convi cti on because Mses
response had been literally true, although it was certainly
m sleading. 1d. at 188. Hi s status had not changed since he filed
his first application, which contained the false representation
that he was living wwth his wfe. Id.

We upheld the section 1425(b) conviction, however, because
Moses knew his marital status was not a "marital union," which nmade
himineligible for naturalization |d. at 187. Mbses argued that
a nere separation was not an automatic bar to eligibility for
citizenship. ld. at 186. The governnment, however, argued that
there was no marital union in the circunstances of this situation,
due to the Il ength of separation, the newfam |y he had established,
and the actual termnation of any marital relationship in all but

the |l egal sense. Id.



In Moses, we held that, to prove a section 1425(b) offense,
t he governnent nust show beyond a reasonabl e doubt:

(1) the defendant issued, procured, obtained, applied

for, or otherwi se attenpted to procure naturalization or

citizenship; (2) the defendant is not entitled [toO]

naturalization or citizenship; and (3) the defendant

knows that he or she is not entitled to naturalization or

citizenship.
ld. at 184. This Court determ ned that Mses' answer that he was
living with his wife and that her address was the sane as his was
sufficient evidence for the jury to find that he falsely
represented that he was living in marital union with a citizen
wfe, and to infer that Mses knew that being separated from his
spouse woul d bar naturalization under the citizen-spouse provi sion.
|d. at 186-87. W further concluded that "a jury could clearly and
unm stakably infer that the INS would not have approved Mses's

application if he had been truthful about his marital situation."

ld. at 187.

Moses clearly is instructive here. Sodosky' s application
contained a fal se statenent indicating that she previously had not
been i ndi cted or convicted. However, Sodosky was not charged under
18 U.S.C. §8 1001, which makes it unlawful for anyone to "make[] any
materially fal se, fictitious, or fraudul ent st at enent or
representation” or "make[] or use[] any false witing or docunent
knowi ng the sane to contain any materially false, fictitious, or
fraudul ent statenent or entry." Thus, whether Sodosky's answer to

question 15b on her INS form-400 was false is irrelevant in this
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case.

Rat her, Sodosky was only charged under 18 U S.C. 8§ 1425(b).
Unli ke in Mbses, the governnent here has failed to prove two of the
three el enents of a section 1425(b) offense. First, the governnent
has not proven that Sodosky was ineligible for naturalization.
Second, the governnent has failed to prove that Sodosky knew she
was ineligible for naturalization.

As al ready not ed, Sodosky's prior conviction occurred 12 years
prior to her applying for naturalization. The testinony presented
at trial was that only an offense within the five years prior to
application for citizenship would render an applicant ineligible.
A crimnal conviction prior to that tine sinply woul d be one factor
the INS could consider, along with many ot her factors, pertaining
to the applicant's good noral character. We cannot assune that
Sodosky's prior conviction reflected so poorly on her character as
to bar naturalization. Wil e Sodosky fraudulently wused her
mlitary dependent card, she did so only to receive nedical
treatnent shortly after being divorced fromher husband who brought
her to the United States four years earlier from Korea. She
conplied with all of the conditions of her probation and paid al
restitution as ordered. Significantly, the I NS chose not to deport
her after she was convi cted.

Thus, we conclude that there is no evidence that Sodosky's

prior conviction necessarily rendered her ineligible for
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naturalization. O course, if Sodosky's prior conviction did not
definitely nmake her ineligible for naturalization, it follows that
she could not have known she was ineligible for naturalization
based on that conviction. Therefore, the requirenents of 18 U S. C
§ 1425(b) have not been satisfi ed.
CONCLUSI ON

For the foregoing reasons, we hold that a rational trier of
fact could not have found beyond a reasonabl e doubt that Sodosky's
prior conviction rendered her ineligible for naturalization, and
that she knew that she was ineligible for naturalization as

required under 18 U S.C. 8§ 1425(Db). Therefore, we REVERSE

Sodosky' s convi ction.

REVERSED.
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